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Abstract
Zheng Zhilong (1604-1661) became the most successful trader and military commander in 17th century Asia after he gained control of the profitable sea route between China and Japan. In fact, Zhilong was originally a pirate, who was later recruited by the Ming government to attack other pirates as expiation. After Zhilong defeated three of his main rival pirates, he and his subordinates were commissioned under the orthodox military ranks of the Ming government. Simultaneously, because Zhilong’s private generals had become part of the Ming military system, Zhilong and these generals shaped a special organization, called the Zheng Ministry (鄭部), which dominated all of the coastal strongholds in Fujian built at the beginning of the Ming. Holding all of the coastal fortresses and strongholds, Zhilong could exercise control over the trade vessels that passed through Fujian's waters to Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. This is one of the main reasons that Zhilong could raise a force powerful enough to defeat the Dutch East India Company (Vereenigde Oost-Indische Compagnie, VOC) and Zhilong’s son, Coxinga, could establish a “state” between the 17th century’s most powerful continental empire, the Qing Empire, and maritime power, the VOC.
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1. Introduction
In 1368, Zhu Yuanzhang (朱元璋) defeated the Mongolian Yuan Dynasty, captured Beijing and established the Ming Dynasty (1368-1644). After becoming emperor, Yuanzhang enforce a Sea Prohibition policy that continued until the Ming fell. All trade had to occur under the auspices of a tribute system in which the Ming government gave any country that wanted to trade with China a certificate, called a Kanghe (勘合), in exchange for tribute. However, this system had broken down by about the early 16th century.
 At the same century, when the Ming Court attempted to close China off from a booming global sea trade which had commenced in the 16th century when the Portuguese discovered the sea route to Asia. In 1517, Portuguese ships arrived at Guangdong (廣東), connecting the western and eastern ends of Eurasia by sea and inaugurating a new geopolitical paradigm. Because of the sea prohibition, Chinese couldn’t trade abroad. But the huge potential profits were so appealing that a large number of people illegally traded with foreign and, axiomatically, were considered pirates. This era has been called “The golden age of Chinese piracy”.

In 1542, the Portuguese were defrayed the cost of rent of staying at a fishing village, called Macao.
 In the meantime, the Ming government enacted a new policy that allowed foreign merchants navigating to Macao to trade with Chinese.
 Portuguese armadas sailed from Malacca to Japan, using Macao as a mid-way post on this route where the most profitable goods could be traded.
 In 1567, the Ming permitted a Fujian port called Yuegang (月港), administered under a new county, called Haichen (海澄), where Chinese junks could exit but foreign ships could not enter. This decision coincided with the onset of the Spanish Galleon Trade, by which the Spanish carried sliver from the Americas across the Pacific to their colony at Manila, captured in 1571, and traded with Chinese from Yuegang. The Spanish, eager to obtain Chinese luxury commodities,  also needed the Chinese in Manila to provide services and food to help maintain their presence there. China needed silver to expand its currency supply to accommodate a growing economy, and because the silver supply on the mainland was low, the Ming government was glad to sanction Chinese junks to acquire precious metals from Manila and Japan, and allow foreign ships to enter Macao where they could market essential alien goods; to wit, ambergris.
 Those arrangements produced a stable and profitable trading system for the Ming, Japan, and European traders.

This concerted trading system lasted almost 30 years until two incipient countries arrived in Asia to impact this system: Holland and England. Holland was fighting on-and-off for independence from the Spanish Empire in this era, so the VOC assailed ships that belonged to Castile in order to extirpate Spanish maritime hegemony and weaken its empire. In 1620, the Dutch Governor of Batavia, Jan Pieterzoon Coen (1587-1629), established a policy called “Intra-Asia Trade” that passed wares along a network of Asian states to curtail cost and avoid hazards during long-distance voyages. Two years later, the VOC dispatched an armada to occupy Macao which, while unsuccessful, did result in VOC fleet capturing the Penghu archipelago (彭湖, also known as the Pescadores) between Fujian and Taiwan.
As mentioned above, in the 16th-17th century, Japan was the most lucrative place in the world because of the increased extraction of gold and silver that coincided with an increased demand for Chinese commodities. Thus, thousands of dealers carried Chinese goods to Japan to exchange for precious metals, and en route to and from Southeast Asia had to pass the straits between Fujian and Taiwan. Penghu, situated in the middle of these straits, was the territory of the Ming. Thus, when the VOC seized this island, it symbolized an invasion and the VOC proceeded to raid the coastal areas of Fujian, compelling the Ming to parley with them. After the negotiations failed, the Ming was determined to detach a legion, under the command of Yu Zigao (俞咨臯), to expel the VOC from Penghu. However, Zigao as a sagacious chief, didn’t want this wealthy power leave and as a consequence he invited a prominent Chinese merchant living in Japan called Li Dan (李旦) to convince the VOC to migrate to Taiwan and they could continue to smuggle with Fujianese traders. In the meantime, Li Dan allocated a translator by the name of Zheng Zhilong (鄭芝龍) to work with the VOC. Incidentally, Zigao released Li Dan’s assistant Xu Xinsu (許心素) from jail, and arranged for him to be the surrogate in these negotiations.
 Because the VOC were opposed by so many soldiers, they withdrew to Taiwan, building a fortress trading post called Zeelandia and struck a bargain with Li Dan.
 Before long, Li Dan died and Xinsu received his trade empire, based largely in Fujian. Therefore, in practice, the heroic general, Zigao, and seasoned merchant, Xinsu, and the refractory pirate partners who were recruited by Zigao became a de facto organization that dictated the Fujian sea trade at this time. In a short period of time, Zheng Zhilong became the captain of a pirate organization within this network.

Scholars have long discussed and debated the rise of Zheng Zhilong. The most influential paper on this topic was written by Leonard Blussé.
 He thought that Zhilong became successful because of his family background in Quanzhou, where residents had engaged in foreign trade for centuries and thus developed a cosmopolitan character. More recently, Huang Yi-Long has argued that Zhilong’s success hinged on his powerful weapons, such as cannons, and advanced military technology.
 Chen Zhiping considered that Zhilong was outstanding because he had an unassailable private port, Anhai (安海).
 John E. Wills broached the view that Zhilong could build his maritime power because of the long distance between Fujian and Beijing, where the central government of the Ming Dynasty was based so Zhilong could maintain his independent character.
 Furthermore, some scholars argue that the fact that Zhilong was recruited by the Ming is key, though they don’t give solid testimony to elucidate on this point.
 Many scholars’ works have contributed to the understanding of this subject, but I found none of them to be comprehensive or fully convincing. Therefore, I tried to examine the personal relationships of the actors involved, who operated within the unfeasible Ming military system. 
Most of the above scholars didn’t make use of two significant sources: the Zhong Guo Ming Chao Dang An Zong Hui (Compendium of Ming Dynasty Archival Documents, 中國明朝檔案總匯) and Ming Qing Shi Liao (Historical Materials of the Ming and Qing, 明清史料). A good deal of information, never before used by scholars, can be found in the two voluminous works, particularly on obscure and seemingly trivial historical figures who in fact were consequential in the rise of Zhilong and the “Zheng Ministry”. In addition to the two resources just mentioned, I dip into the writings of contemporaneous members of the gentry who played a role of Zhilong’s life. Information on these individuals forms the foundation of my argument.

The focus of this chapter is: what distinguished Zhilong from the many pirate-traders active on China’s southern coast in the Ming Dynasty? In the mid-Ming period, many pirates as powerful as Zhilong, such as Xu Chaoguang (許朝光), Ceng Yiben (曾一本), Lin Daoqian (林道乾), raided coastal areas for tens of years and the government couldn’t impede them. . When we juxtapose these “pirate-kings” and Zhilong, we can detect that the major difference is that Zhilong progressively established a private military group, the “Zheng Ministry,” from the time he was recruited. This nomenclature was the second and final time in the Ming period that an unique noun, in this case “ministry” (bu, 部), was used to refer to a distinct legion. 

Before pondering the causes in Zhilong’s rise and the Zheng Ministry’s function, the Ming military system should be expounded upon. Initially, the Ming set up a “military register” (jun hu, 軍戶) in order to stabilize military resources by making units self-sufficient, relying on localities and and garrisoning  strongholds. Nevertheless, the military register required soldiers to perform many complex and laborious tasks, making their lives arduous. After the mid-Ming, more and more military registers began shirking their duty and, consequently, the military system was overhauled in the second half of the Ming period. Because the quota of soldiers in all military strongholds had decreased, the coastal defense system moldered little by little. In response, the government instituted reforms to replenish the diminished number of corps. One crucial reform was the new rule that enforced an immovable commander in every province. This arrangement, originally set up during wartime, stated that every governor, commander, vice commander, and even general could raise what amounted to a personal army, called Biaobing (標兵). Another innovative modification was that government countenanced all of the coastal fortifications to enlist soldiers to defend their respective duty areas. The government quickly instituted this system to handle the more intricate maritime situation that had developed by the mid-Ming. Therefore, by the period in question, the Ming military relied more and more on household registers or recruiting bandits to fill the army ranks, and recruiting Zhilong, a pirate, into the government wasn’t an unprecedented case.
With the institution of these reforms, the innovative Ming military system entered a new phase, offering new opportunities to ambitious marshals. As stated above, the Zheng Ministry was the second special military organization during the Ming, the first being the one built by Mao Wenlong (毛文龍). In the late 16th century, the semi-nomadic Jurchen tribe began to grow under the leaderership of Nurhaci (1559-1626), followed by his son, Hong Taiji (1592-1643), who changed the name of this tribe to the Manchus. Nurhaci encroached on the territory of the Ming and came to rule over the northeast part of China.
 It was in the context of fighting the Manchus that the general Mao Wenlong used the Ming military system to found his power in northeast China in the 1620s. Although Zhilong’s situation was substantially different from Wenlong’s, Mao and Zheng both held an extraordinary title provided by crown, in this case “Mao Shuai” (Commander Mao, 毛帥), which appears 126 times in the Ming Shilu (明實錄, Veritable Records of the Ming). 
 Wenlong received military supplies from the Court, but he also traded with the Manchus and Joseon Korea to earn more money. The Ming acquiesced that Wenlong could appoint his adopted sons, who were originally members of the Biaobing system, as legitimate generals for guarding strategic points.
 These nominally imperial generals in fact only served Wenlong, helping him establish a regime between the Ming, the Manchus, and Joseon.
 Through both military and economic channels, Wenlong was able to become an intemperate power in his own right in the region; it was, in effect, an independent kingdom.
It is important to keep in mind that Zheng Zhilong initially wasn’t a general but a pirate, and that there were tens of pirates as powerful as him in the Ming period. However, Zheng was uniquely successful because he carefully exploited the same weaknesses in the Ming military rank system as Wenlong. After 1628, Zhilong started implementing four steps which led to his ultimate success: dismissing opponents, raising his own mercenary troops under the aegis of Ming conscription reforms, controlling the major military ports in Fujian by gaining an official position, and cloaking his business activities by ruling trading lanes. As we know, Zhilong could dominate these trading routes after 1640 because the Zheng Ministry was formed in 1636-1637, Zhilong was conferred the post of Fujian Commander in 1640, and the generals of the Zheng Ministry were accorded official titles, becoming ascendant chiefs of the coastal defense system.
2. The influence of Gentry and Clan in Quanzhou
Yu Zigao, who became the Fujian Commander after banishing the VOC, and his partners built a transient maritime power after the VOC move to Taiwan, but business wasn’t the only reason for Zigao’s success. In the period of the Tianqi (天啟) Emperor, the most powerful person at the Ming Court was a eunuch named Wei Zhongxian (魏忠賢) who had five assistants who were called the “Five Tigers” (五虎). Wu Chunfu (吳淳夫), from Quanzhou,  was Zigao’s kinsman.
 Because Zigao’s father, Yu Dayou (俞大猷), served in Quanzhou for a long time, the relationship between the Yu family and the local clans was very close, including relations by marriage.
 In other words, Zigao and his family had the advantage of connections with the Quanzhou clans, which by extension meant connections with the central political circles at the Ming Court. 
In his efforts to establish maritime hegemony, we can sketch out the advantages Zigao held. First, since 1624, Xinsu, Zigao’s most reliable trade partner, had been trading with the VOC traders, who were was protected by Zigao’s military power. Zigao was also related to some grandees by affinity, as well as old family friends who had served in the Court or lived in Quanzhou. Finally, Zigao had attained the highest military rank in Fujian and recruited a group of pirates to be his own troops.
 In principle, the factors behind Zigao’s impressive maritime power correspond to those behind Zhilong’s rise.
In 1622, there were three principal pirates in Fujian: Yang Liu (楊六 or 楊祿), Cai Wu (蔡五), and Zhong Bin (鍾斌). However, Cai Wu and Zhong Bin were individually defeated by Zigao, with Cai Wu escaping to Japan and Zhong Bin hiding in Taiwan. After Cai Wu and Zhong Bin were defeated, Yang Liu became the most powerful pirate in Fujian, commanding over 3,000 followers and 72 ships in 1625.  For this reason, Zigao preferred to recruit rather than fight him. But the governor of Fujian, Zhu Yifeng (朱一馮), and the Tongan County Magistrate, Cao Luitai, were opposed to recruiting the capricious Yang Liu. As a result, Yang Liu pillaged the Fujian and Guangdong coast, leaving Yifeng with no choice but to allow Zigao to recruit this pirate in 1626.
 At this time, Zhilong was a small pirate captain and intended to join Yang Liu’s organization, but Yang Liu declined this proposal.
 Soon afterwards, Zhilong combined with other pirates who were crowded out of Yang Liu’s forces, such as Zhong Bin, to escalate his power and devastate Fujian. The same year, Zhilong led this pirate association to encroach on Tongshan (銅山) fortress and triumphed over the army under Zigao’s command.
 Zigao had a paucity of troops and therefore ordered Yang Liu to aid the Ming forces; however, Yang Liu refused his request. Yang Liu was wary of fighting Zhilong and escaped from to Xinsu’s house, where he sought to recruit an army of 500.
 This coincided with Zigao’s unsuccessful command of a huge Ming fleet in battle against Zhilong’s allied forces.
 Soon, Zigao forfeited Amoy, his predominant anti-pirate base, leading to the government depriving him of his position and prosecuting him.
Many generals were defeated by pirates and condemned, but the government generally allowed them to maintain their position to atone for their defeats; especially, the consummate general as Zigao was
. However, did the government denounce Zigao because of his failures in the defense of Fujian, or was there some other motivation? The answer is that Zigao was immersed in central vicious partisan conflict originating from Beijing. It’s a coincidence that Zigao lost the battle at Tongshan in 1627, the same year as the death of the Tianqi Emperor. The new emperor, Chongzheng (崇禎), purged some ministers, including Wu Chunfu. Losing this battle and his patron simultaneously caused Zigao to be impugned by ministers who had been promoted by the emperor, so that Zigao was implicated when the eunuch party fell. 
After 
capturing Amoy, Zhilong and his 20,000 pirates besieged Quanzhou city, prompting Yifeng to request that they return to their ships and in exchange be recruited. Because Zhilong had traded along the Guangdong and Fujian coast since his childhood, it is a reasonable assumption that Zhilong knew the exploits of pirate predecessors around this area that since the mid-Ming. If so, he would have known that no pirates had successfully resisted the government in this region without eventually being recruited by the government.
 Therefore, he applied the carrot and stick judiciously.

At the same time, a group of gentry conferred on the question of whether to recruit Zhilong as other pirate leaders had been. The Quanzhou magistrate, Wang You (王猷), organized a group to discuss a way to resolve the piracy situation at a famous temple in Quanzhou. The sources indicate that there were two important gentry at this conference: Shi Jixie (史繼偕), who was associated with Zigao, and Huang Kezhan (黃克纘). The final resolution of this conference was to recruit pirates into the government, but there were still significant differences of opinion and the dissenting votes probably came from the patrons of Zigao.
 
When Zhilong planned to ask to be recruited in 1627, his fate largely rested with the strategist Mao Yuanyi (茅元儀), who had previously been garrisoned in Fujian and, thus, was very careful about the request of Zhilong.
 Yuanyi opposed recruiting Zhilong, but after he asked a famous Quanzhou gentry, Zhang Ruitu (張瑞圖), who was a member of the eunuch party, for his opinion. After Ruitu told Yuanyi that the denouement should be to recruit Zhilong, Yuanyi changed his mind and agreed to recruit Zhilong, writing a letter to the Court to express his new thinking. However, when his behavior annoyed Yang Jingchen (楊景辰), who advocated for Zigao and was a member of the eunuch party, Jingchen impeached Yuanyi since Jingchen and his family hated Zhilong.
 In fact, there was a suggestion that 
appointed Yuanyi to be commander of Fujian because he supported Zhilong.
In 1628, the new Fujian governor, Xiong Wencan (熊文燦) who planned to recruit bandits, replaced Yifeng. During the temple-conference, there was a proposal written by the Quanzhou gentry member laid on the Emperor’s desk which advocated for a program that would be a largess for Zhilong. In an abnormal breach of convention for recruiting pirates in the Ming period, he suggested that Zhilong should disperse his troops besieging Quanzhou and formally dismiss his troops before the government could appoint Zhilong a real official rank. The Fujian authorities would then acquit Zhilong and give him a platform from which he should spend three years besetting rival pirates in order to atone for his crimes, and then the government would accord him a title as a solider of the Ming. The individual who proposed this plan was an officer in Henan (河南) named Su Yan (蘇琰), who was born in the same village as Zhilong.
 Su also had a strong relationship with the Zheng family; to wit, he had bestowed a famous temple in Zhilong’s hometown, Anhai.
 
While Ming officials discussed how to deal with Zhilong, Zhilong was eager to iron out his piracy status and Su Yan was not the member of the gentry Zhilong tried to canvass. He had even addressed a letter in 1627 to the most famous gentry in the region, He Qiaoyuan (何喬遠), Yan’s good friend and teacher, who had retired and was staying in a manor in Quanzhou. Zhilong hoped that Qiaoyuan could use his influence to help him be recruited. But Qiaoyuan didn’t give Zhilong any manifest answer.

The Quanzhou clan had ascendant power in southern Fujian, also known as Min-nan (閩南), and they could in essence intimidate the government into a certain course of action. Members of the clan not only entered the bureaucratic system, but also were simultaneously illegal traders or pirates. One prominent example is the previously-mentioned Shi Jixie, who was the highest central civil minister (Neige, 內閣) in the Court (Jixie was censured in 1623 because his son amassed a great deal of wealth illegally). Of course, Zigao and his patrons were also characteristic examples of those who operated simultaneously within and outside the Ming system. 
We must understand that most of the influential members of the Quanzhou clan came from gentry families, meaning members of their family had passed the complicated Keju (科舉) exams, required to become a minister. In this period, many of the gentry clan members were part of the military register in Quanzhou. The Zheng were probably an indispensable family in Anhai, but they were just a commonplace commercial family, not officials. There is no evidence that the Zheng family had any influence in the Quanzhou clan before Zhilong was appointed an officer. Because of his relatively low family background, Zhilong never gained the support of the entire local gentry clan and, in fact, only Su Yan, who came from the same hometown as Zhilong, gave him unqualified support. However, the eunuch party collapsed and the Fujian government still needed to eliminate the uncontrolled pirate organization occupying Amoy. Eventually, they asked Zhilong to dissolve his party, but some gentry still sought a viable alternative to Zhilong (for example, Qiaoyuan preferred Li Kuiqi (李魁奇) to Zhilong). 
Many scholars believe that the Quanzhou clan network and competition between Quanzhou and Zhangzhou were important factors in Zhilong’s rise. Quanzhou had been an important global port since the Song Dynasty. As mentioned above, the Ming government opened Haicheng, Zhangzhou, to be the port for outward-bound ships; placing Zhangzhou in a better position than Quanzhou to lead Fujian's maritime activity. These were not two isolated competing city-states, but two stations along a complex trade network with multiple internal divisions. The relationship between the two ports was similarly complex, and cannot be characterized as clearly dichotomous. For example, Zigao was born in Quanzhou but he worked with Xinsu, who was born in Zhangzhou. Li Kuiqi and Liu Xiang both were born in Zhangzhou, but Kuiqi initially worked with Zhilong, though both of them eventually became rivals of Zhilong.
 
Despite Zhilong’s adept navigation of these complexities, it is still curious why Zigao, commanding a large force and holding the highest military rank in the province, couldn’t defeat an upstart pirate association. In the run-up to Zhilong’s defeat of the Ming forces under Yu and subsequent occupation of Amoy in 1627, there was a gentry member called Chi Shen-Fang (池顯方), Zigao’s cordial friend, who suggested that Zigao should recruit more troops and ships to prepare for the battle.
 But why did the government have less men and material than the pirates? In fact, before the battle for Amoy, Zhilong asked his godbrothers, generals who oversaw Penghu and the straits between Amoy and Penghu, not to aid Zhigao. He also asked another godbrother, whose name is Wang Mengxiong (王夢熊), to cast ordnances and ships for his use (in the event, Mengxiong didn’t finish the commission in time, so he gave Zhilong ships intended for the Ming navy as compensation).
 Even though Zigao was the highest military commander in Fujian, he couldn’t dictate the actions of the lower ranks of the Fujian military. In addition, despite helping arm some pirates, Yang Liu and Zhong Bin also didn’t help Zigao, even though Zhonghad received cannons as a gift for helping Zigao to attack Zhilong. In a way, Zigao fueled the power of his enemy.

Before Zigao fell, most gentry supported him; after Zigao was defeated, the gentry needed to choose a new champion and some of them chose to support Zhilong. However, others abetted Zhilong’s remaining opponents and others just awaited the final winner in this game. Thus, it would be incorrect to assert, as some scholars have, that Zhilong had total support from the local gentry. As discussed above, at this point more of them still supported Zigao than Zhilong.
It is undeniable that Zhilong had manifest charisma, but he was not the only leader of the bandit group he fought with. In fact, the pirate troops directly under him were just one part of a larger pirate organization and Zhilong was probably unsatisfied with his position in this community. Therefore, when his old friend Su Yan gave him venal munificence, Zhilong tried to promptly disengage from his more inclement followers. However, other leaders of this organization, such as Li Kuiqi, Chen Zhongji (陳衷紀), and Zhong Bin defied Zhilong’s plan to join the government. While all of the pirate organizations during Ming understood that it was in their best interests to be recruited by the government in order to survive, only Zhilong could follow this path to later establish maritime hegemony. 

When Li Kuiqi molested the coast, he also made connections with He Qiaoyuan and asked Qiaoyuan to abet him be recruited by the government.
 Because Qiaoyuan had many friends and students who worked in Beijing,
 Kuiqi wanted to utilize Qiaoyuan’s influence. After Kuiqi’s defeat and death, Qiaoyuan even wrote a funeral oration for his soul and donated expensive presents to a temple in order to atone for Kuiqi’s sins.
 Therefore, there were still some gentry who supported other pirates in the region after Zhilong had been recruited.
So far, we can confirm that Zhilong’s connection with the Quanzhou clan was indeed one of the main reasons for his success. However, not only Zhilong but other aspiring power players in the region, such as Kuiqi and Zigao, also had the support of the Quanzhou gentry. Therefore, we can’t say that clan or gentry support was a unique element of Zhilong’s rise; instead, it seems to have been a general characteristic of pirates in the Ming. 
Because Zigao was expelled from his position, the government had to find someone to replace him. The person chosen was a native of Quanzhou, had satisfied most of the Quanzhou clan, and had good relationships with the local people, and kept a legion of his own troops; in fact, the government deemed the very man who defeated Zigao as an appropriate candidate. Although he didn’t enjoy the enthusiastic support of the entire Quanzhou clan, Zhilong still understood the importance of clan and likewise the clan members also expected the maritime leader to maintain their profits. 
3. The Failure of the Pirates and the Last Pirate King in the Ming Period, Liu Xiang 
We have discussed why Zigao’s organization failed. However, Zigao was a general and therefore is not an appropriate comparison with Zhilong. The same can be said about the impressive pirate-kings before this period. Therefore, I will introduce three pirate-king and their organizations to explore the role they played in Zhilong’s rise and analyze why they were less successful than Zhilong.
As mentioned, when Zhilong was recruited by Xiong Wencan, he was subsumed within the Biaobing system. Zhilong dissipated his large and powerful military force and which angered leading members of his organization. Chen Zhijing (陳芝經), one of Zhilong’s godbrothers, induced Zhong Bin to betray Zhilong and assail a coastal stronghold called Chongwu (崇武). However, Zhilong uncovered Zhijing’s plan and captured him. Although Bin lost his partner, he still attacked the Wuyu coastal fortress, killing the Ming general who garrisoned the fortress.
 In addition to Chen Zhijing and Zhong Bin, Zhilong also was betrayed by Chen Zhongji, who was the most important counselor of the organization. The famous novel, Taiwan Waiji (臺灣外記), written by Zhilong’s grandson’s subordinate, states that Zhongji was killed by Li Kuiqi and Zhilong was so sad that he went on a punitive war against Kuiqi; in fact it was Zhilong who killed Chen Zhongji.
 These cases demonstrate that the pirate organization was composed of a series of competing groups and lacked an inviolable command structure.

After Zhilong was recruited and anchored in Amoy, He was betrayed by several powerful members of his organization: the previously mentioned Li Kuiqi and Zhong Bin, as well as Zhou Sanlao (周三老).
 Li Kuiqi, who was the most prevalent renegade, took more than half of Zhilong’s followers, showing how fragile Zhilong’s power was, even after his defeat of Zigao. Because Zhilong had dismissed his army and probably most of those dismissed were not loyal followers who joined up with Li, Zhong, and Zhou; thus, he was helpless in the face of Li Kuiqi’s troops, who occupied Amoy in 1628. Losing this city forced Zhilong and his brother, Zhihu (鄭芝虎), to leave Amoy for his homeland and peripheral fishing villages to recruit mercenaries. It is amazing that he initially raised only 600 soldiers, but it was these troops who eventually laid the basis for the powerful Zheng Ministry.
 
A few days later
, the Zheng brothers recaptured Amoy, forcing Kuiqi to waive Amoy.
 During this time, Kuiqi had asked the government to recruit him (he may have also wrote to He Qiaoyuan at this time), providing cause for a pause in the fighting, and Zhilong took this opportunity to inspect Shihu. In the meantime, Kuiqi harassed Amoy again, but Zhilong soon arrested Kuiqi’s family as hostages and stuck Amoy.

 Therefore, Kuiqi went to Tongshan to trade with the local people and soldiers, but he had a sense of the suspect loyalties of his followers and, thus, conducted a purge. Some of captains who initially joined Kuiqi contacted Zhilong, expressing that they wanted to betray Kuiqi.
 Guo Zhikui (郭芝葵) was seen as the partner of Zhilong and so Kuiqi wanted to kill him. Zhikui’s brother, Zhilan (郭芝蘭), escaped to where Zhilong was staying and told him that they wanted to surrender to the government. 
Kuiqu approached a general of Guangdong, telling him that he could capture the pirate captains who followed with him such as Zhou Sanlao and Zhong Bin in exchange for being recruited.
 However, this plan didn’t succeed and Kuiqi soon was defeated by Zhilong at Zhangzhou, who commanded fewer people than Kuiqi. In 1629, Kuiqi entered Guangdong and there were no obstruction to forestall him, so the Guangdong government asked Zhilong to end this cataclysm, which he did with the defeat of Li at Nanao (南澳). After harassing Guangdong, Kuiqi went back to Fujian and asked the government to be recruited as a general, again.

Around this time, Zhilong destroyed Yang Liu and his group as well.
 When Kuiqi encircled Amoy and harassing the surrounding areas in 1628, he traded with the VOC, all the while negotiating with gentry and the Fujian government. Because of a dearth of soldiers, Zhilong begged the government to fortify his ranks, which begs the question: if Zhilong was a part of the Ming, why would he still need to beg for troops from a government that watched with folded arms?
 When Kuiqi occupied Amoy, the Fujian government tried to assign him to patrol the northern area of Amoy and the government, even the Emperor, considered Kuiqi to already have been recruited into the Ming ranks.
 He Qiaoyuan also came to Amoy visit Kuiqi, telling him to dismiss over 8,000 pirates so that the government could recruit him.
 
Incidentally, as Kuiqi needed a powerful ally, he was negotiating with the VOC in Amoy. However, as we know, the VOC finally decided to cooperate with Zhilong instead because they couldn’t trade with China when Kuiqi was in Amoy. The VOC’s prudent decision, informed by years of commercial experience, was probably due to the legitimate position that Zhilong had in the government in 1629, called Fuyi (Conciliator of barbarians, 撫夷).
 This official position had decision-making powers over which foreign countries could pay tribute to the Ming and the Fuyi could even assail any country that he considered threatening. The Fuyi was appointed by the governor and usually the governor would commission a general from among his Biaobing ranks (just as Zhilong was recruited by the governor, Wencan).
 The VOC could trade with Zhilong but could only smuggle with Kuiqi. Of course, they sought to ensure their business through a more definite track, determining that obedience to Ming law would decrease costs and make trade operate more smoothly.
In November, 1629, Zhong Bin and other pirate captains betrayed Li Kuiqi who was soon defeated by a combined assault by Zhilong, the Ming,  the VOC and recalcitrant pirates. The three key men in this process were Chen Shengyu (陳盛宇), Guo Zhikui, and Zhong Bin. Shenyu and Zhikui were among several pirates who originally betrayed Zhilong with Kuiqi, but later rejoined Zhilong’s side as the situation changed.
 Both became generals under Zhilong’s command after they joined the government forces.
 In order to defeat Kuiqi, Zhilong also recruited some of Kuiqi’s followers as agents and made sure his troops didn’t attack these pre-designated individuals.
 Finally, Zhong Bin, who was the powerful captain of Kuiqi’s pirate organization, also betrayed Kuiqi. The final nail in Kuiqi’s coffin came when he was simultaneously attacked by the VOC and the Ming forces.
 

After Kuiqi died, the government planned to recruit Zhong Bin to replace the original position that Kuiqi had held. However, Bin didn’t want to be recruited and ,on some pretext, instead left for Guangdong in order to attack Kuiqi’s adopted son, Ye Yu (葉郁). He also refused 800 taels from Fujian government that led to the Fujian officials doubting him; in fact, many officials had already mistrusted Bin.
 At the same time, Zhilong ordered Shenyu to recruit Ye Yu, called Nooting in the VOC documents.
 Although the government had tried to recruit Bin, he continued to attack the coast and didn’t stay where he was supposed to be garrisoned.
 Zhong Bin was so successful at deceiving the Fujian government and gentry that even as astute an operator as Qiaoyuan tried to recruit him.
 Bin also tried to protract the time of negotiations with the government so he could have more time to raid Fujian. However, Bin was eventually defeated by Zhilong and his subordinates (all of them members of Zheng Ministry) in 1630.
 

Unsurprisingly, the Ming government was worried about Zhilong and didn’t want a former pirate being so influential.
 They therefore dispatched Zhilong inland to attack the bandit Zhong Lingxiu (鍾凌秀), who operated on the borders of Fujian, Guangdong, and Jiangxi.
 At the same time, Zhilong completed his three year commitment to the government to expiate his crimes, and he therefore jumped up from the Biaobing system to become a full general of the Ming Empire.
 Zhong Lingxiu was powerful enough that all three provinces had to send their best generals, most of whom were Biaobing generals, to take part in the battle.
 When Zhilong was sent to the mountains to defeat the bandits, he commanded his own private army composed of unorthodox generals in the Biaobing system. He also received help from local officials.
 Additionally, Zhilong was willing to accept pirates who had betrayed him back under his command, with Zhikui and Shenyu being two prominent examples. Therefore, Zhilong’s private army developed as a result of these three factors. Zhilong was consequently able to build a force of faithful troops in the midst of rampant betrayal. In the meantime, another pirate, Liu Xiang (劉香), received the remaining followers of Li Kuiqi and Zhong Bin and began to sail along the Fujian coast.

When Zhilong served as an interpreter for the VOC, Liu Xiang (a native of Haicheng) was harassing the Fujian seaboard.
 However, Liu Xiang remained inactive when Kuiqi and Bin molested the coast, instead taking advantage of Zhilong’s inland assignment.
 In addition to their political opposition, Liu had killed several members of Zhilong’s family in a 1633 raid on Anhai.

The government forces gradually defeated Liu Xiang in what came to be called “the Fujian navy’s seven great victories”.
 The first happened at Zhangzhou when the Ming navy defeated Liu.
 The second victory was the first battle between Zhilong and Xiang at Xiaocheng (小埕), Fuzhou.
 Xiang escaped to Guangdong and fought with Zhilong’s forces near Guangzhou; this was the third victory of the seven battles.
 After losing the battle at Guangzhou, Xiang went to Baigezhai (白鴿寨), one of the Guangdong coastal fortresses in Leizhou, incurring Zhilong’s army; this was the fourth victory against Liu.
 Then, the VOC under Augustin Li (the son of Li Dan) and Xiang formed an alliance which fought against Zhilong at Amoy.
 Then, Zhilong fought Xiang at Dadan (大擔) Island near Jinmen and, at this battle, Augustin Li sought help from Zhilong and turned against Xiang. Liu Xiang was defeated by Zhilong and Augustin’s Wokou pirate army and then escaped to the south. This was the fifth victorious battle. However, when Liu Xiang sailed to Tongshan fortress, Huang Binqing (黃斌卿), the general garrisoning this fortress, exonerated him again. Liu Xiang ordered his army to escape to Guangdong, after which he never came back to his homeland of Fujian.
 The sixth battle happened at Chaozhou.
 Soon afterwards, Zhilong deployed two provincial armies to eradicate Xiang on the sea near Chaozhou, where Xiang had been recruited by the Guangdong local government.
 

Xiang raided the coasts of three provinces for over ten years and during those years he defeated government forces several times, and even Zhilong’s powerful forces were defeated by Xiang’s dilapidated army at Nanao after the fifth victory.
 Liu Xiang had also captured Portuguese and Dutch ships and had these foreign hostages operate the cannons on his ships.
 His most audacious act was to sail 120 ships to encircle the Dutch fortress of Zeelandia. There were thousands of soldiers and hundreds ships that Xiang commanded at every battle, and even if Xiang’s forces suffered heavy losses, this mammoth legion could be reconstructed every time.
 After this emblematic pirate-king died, his still sizable followers went to the borderland between Fujian and Zhejiang, where they were annihilated by Zhilong’s right-hand man, Cheng Peng (陳鵬).
 Finally, some of Xiang’s followers surrendered to Zhilong and Xiang’s family were recruited by the Zhejiang government, later becoming part of the Ming army to suppress bandits in the area.
Both Zhilong’s recruitment by the government and Zigao’s fall indicate that the power of the military registers in Quanzhou had been substantially weakened by this point. It is important to remember that the clan opponents being recruited by Zhilong belonged to the military registers. Incidentally, in terms of the competition between Quanzhou and Zhangzhou, it is key that Xiang, who was born in Zhangzhou just like Xinsu and Kuiqi, was defeated by Zhilong. After Xiang’s death, no Zhangzhou native could conceivably fight against Zhilong. Thus, some people who lived in Zhangzhou, for example, the famous traders Hambuan and Jocksim, resisted the Quanzhou area through commerce instead of armed conflict. There were still some merchants who could contend against Zhilong’s trade empire and they were commercially as powerful as Zhilong. However, the Zheng Ministry controlled the Fujian military, including Zhangzhou, inch by inch after Xiang’s fall. Even though Humbuan was the most trusted Chinese trader for the VOC, he couldn’t withstand Zhilong’s preponderant maritime hegemony. In 1640, a special year for Zhilong, Hambuan drowned in a typhoon on Taiwan, and thus the final powerful Zhangzhou rival of Zhilong was dead.
 It is coincidence that Zhilong became the Fujian Commander the same year and the Zheng Ministry wholly controlled the Fujian coast. Thus, Zhangzhou no longer had an advantage to compete against Zheng Zhilong and his subordinates based in Quanzhou.
4. Constructing the Zheng Ministry in the Footsteps of the Ming Military System
Though the defeat of Kuiqi, Bin, Lingxiu, and the seven great victories were attributed to Zhilong, the archival records in fact reveal that the most important contributions came from Zhilong’s followers. Thus, when Liu Xiang was beaten and the merit list was written and sent to Beijing the next year, the individuals promoted to become generals of the Ming were all from the Zhilong’s Biaobing system.
According the archival materials, the officers called this legion the Zheng Ministry, (Zheng Bu, 鄭部). As mentioned above, this was a special, even exceptional, case in the whole of the Ming Dynasty. The Ming government rewarded anyone whom it considered praiseworthy during the four year struggle against Xiang. According to the customs of the Ming Dynasty, the Fujian officers should write a list of laudable individuals and their exploits. Lu Zhenfei (路振飛), who was a high-ranking officer in Fujian, wrote the following:
Chen Peng had the highest achievement and he has been rewarded Youji. Guo Xi (郭熺) and Hu Mei (胡美), they could be generals fully in charge. Lin Hong (林宏), Chen Jingwu (陳經武), Wu Hua (吳華), Chen Lin (陳麟), Chen Bao (陳豹), and Chen Shun (陳順), whose talents were slightly inferior, could be conferred the Shoubei rank. This is the situation about members of the “Zheng Ministry”.

All of these nine generals followed Zhilong to gain distinctions for years. Those generals leaped out of the Biaobing system, joining the official military system, so that they were authorized to garrison the coastal fortresses and had the duty to guard them. They remained faithful to their boss; not the government but Zhilong. Zhilong and his generals didn’t need money or supplies from the government to maintain their forces; the only thing they needed was the legitimacy provided by conferred military positions which allowed them to control the ports and trade routes essential to overseas commerce. Zhilong wasn’t an iconoclast but a traditionalist, because the traditional (Ming) rule cemented his trade empire.
By examining contemporary sources throughout the course of Zhilong’s rise, I was able to ascertain that Zhilong’s subordinates weren’t seen as part of the Ming military. After Zhilong was recruited in 1628, many different terms for describing his troops can be found in the sources from different literati. When Zhilong was recruited in 1628, the officer Cao Luitai said: 
The Zheng bandit organization was not [composed of] civilians nor soldiers and they didn’t belong to the government or any stronghold army.
 
Then, when Kuiqi wanted to be recruited by the government in 1629, Lutai said: 
We would rather help Zhilong than recruit Kuiqi.
 
If Zhilong was seen as part of the Ming military, why did Lutai differentiate Zhilong and the government? After the VOC attacked Amoy and burned Zhilong’s new vessels in 1633, Zeng Ying (曾櫻), who was an officer in Fujian, said: 
This time the 'red ghost' attacked Amoy and, except Zhilong’s ships, the official ships were burned, with only five ships surviving.
 
The same year, Huang Ruliang also told Zhilong: 
Your troops and subordinates are sufficient.
 
In 1639, Su Yan wrote a preface for Zheng Hongkui’s hymnbook in which he stated: 
You and Your brother enlisted an army and trained it themselves.
 
Finally, in 1643, when Coxinga’s teacher Qian Qianyi suggested that the Court call on Zhilong’s army to fight against bandits; he said: 
Zhilong’s troops come from islands or are foreign, so they are good at swimming and hiding their body in the sea as fishes, brandishing the sword and jumping on the terrifying waves.
 
Those statements came from different people in different years, demonstrating that Zheng was never really considered part of the Ming. Zhilong was recorded as holding an actual rank, but both the local gentry and officers did not see Zhilong’s troops as part of the official Ming army. Although, the members of the "Zheng Ministry” were recorded with a military position by the government in name, they still were an independent group from the viewpoint of the people in Fujian.
What happened when the members of the Zheng Ministry were accorded a formal grade? In the Ming Dynasty, a formal grade meant that a commission should lead a commander to guard his duty area. We have to first understand what the duty area of a Fujian naval officer was. Since the Ming government enacted the sea prohibition, naval officers only defended against enemies that came from beyond territorial waters, garrisoning the coastal fortresses built at vital ports along the coastline in the early Ming.
 
Both pirate and government forces intently tried to control the coastal fortresses and strongholds in order to safeguard shipping routes.
 From the early Ming, important ports were built essentially as military castles in an effort to guarantee protection. These ports were also convenient to anchor at, and pirates always attacked them first to quickly paralyze the attack capability of the government. Therefore, the same place was often an important commercial port and a strategic military site, with Tongshan and Amoy being prime examples. As mentioned previously, Zhilong controlled the route between China and Japan, which was the most profitable route in the world in the 16-17th centuries. Gradually, members of the Zheng Ministry were embedded in various positions in the coastal defense system, controlling vital harbors on the coastline from Chaozhou to northern Fujian and Penghu. 

In the Fujian naval defense hierarchy, there were five main levels in the period from 1621 to 1644: first, the Fujian Commander, who was the highest military officer in Fujian; second, the Zhangzhou and Chaozhou Vice Commander, who managed the whole army of Zhangzhou and Chaozhou; third were the generals who garrisoned the coastal fortresses; forth, there were some generals between the second-class and the third-class, who usually controlled the army of one zhou; and, finally, an Army of Patrol between two coastal fortresses were commanded by one marshal who was appointed by the governor since mid-Ming (this is the rank that Zhilong had held). It is obvious from the surviving sources that members of the Zheng Ministry filled the ranks of all five classes and therefore controlled the Fujian waters. In other words, a military armada or a fleet of trade ships could safely move on the route ruled by the Zheng Ministry after 1636. 

Figure 1: 
The Ming military rank and their duty in Fujian
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Figure 2 demonstrates that this complex system wasn’t easily subjugated by one person. No preeminent generals or their subordinates could hold more than one post simultaneously. As we know, when Zigao was Fujian commander, he could not control the entire Fujian military. Lower rank admirals, including the Chingyibazhong of the Tongshan Coastal Fortress and the general of Penghu, were not following Zigao’s orders when they refused to attack Zhilong. The key impediment was that the subordinate ranks (probably members of their Biaobing system) couldn’t gain enough contributions to be appointed generals of strongholds. After Liu Xiang fell, Zhilong wanted to gain a higher position, and ordered Xiang’s remaining followers to attack Fuzhou. In response, the government delegated both Zhilong and Chen Peng to track them down and, in fact, Zhilong was appointed Vice Commander (fu zongbing) because of his triumph over these pirates.
 Another roadblock was that former generals and their staff would be moved to other provinces after a limited period of time. Zhilong and members of Zheng Ministry were never transferred. This is likely due to the fact that the government could find niche candidates to embed in coastal vacancies. Indeed, there were a group of bellicose generals who trained and worked with Zhilong since 1628 and the government needed them to help stabilize the disorderly situation on the Fujian seas. 
Table 1: Rank of the Main Members of the Zheng Ministry

	Name
	1628-1632
	1633-1636
	1636-1644
	South Ming
	Qing

	Zheng Zhilong

鄭芝龍
	Patrol General

(Youji, 遊擊)
	General- Counselor 

(Canjiang, 參將)
	Commander

(Zongbing, 總兵)
	Duke
	Duke

	Zheng Hongkui
鄭鴻逵
	--
	--
	Vice Commander

(Fu Zhongbing, 副總兵)
	Duke
	

	Zheng Cai
鄭彩
	--
	Captain

(Shaoguan, 哨官)
	General- Counselor 

(Canjiang, 參將)
	Duke
	

	Chen Peng
陳鵬
	--
	Local Centurion

(Mingse bazong,
 名色把總)
	Vice Commander

(Fu Zongbing, 副總兵)
	

	Guo Xi
郭熺
	--
	Captain

(Shaoguan, 哨官)
	Vice Commander

(Fu Zongbing, 副總兵)
	Marquis
	Earl

	Lin Cha
林察
	--
	Regal Centurion

(Qingyi bazong, 

欽依把總)
	General of Counselor

(Canjiang, 

參將)
	Marquis
	Earl

	Chen Bao
陳豹
	--
	Captain

(Shaoguan, 哨官)
	Local Centurion

(Mingse bazong, 名色把總)
	Marquis
	Marquis

	Chen Xiu
陳秀
	--
	--
	Regal Centurion

(Chingyi bazong, 

欽依把總)
	Marquis
	Earl

	Lin Xishan
林習山
	--
	--
	Regal Centurion

(Chingyi bazong, 

欽依把總)
	Marquis
	

	Yang Geng
楊耿
	--
	--
	Patrol General

(Youji, 遊擊)
	Marquis
	


The Court established many garrisons (weisuo) on the coast at the beginning of the Ming, but the Fujian coastline was over 4,000 kilometers long, meaning that each weisuo could only control its own immediate vicinity. After the mid-Ming, the number of military registers decreased so far that garrisons had to hire their own armies to maintain their defensive capabilities. Some scholars call this coastal system the “Point Style Coastal Defense” system. The disconnected strongholds goaded the government to ruminate on a new military arrangement in Fujian. At first, five coastal castles were enough to defend the Fujian shores and were the main defenses in the area until the mid-Ming. Starting in the mid-Ming, the government established more intermediary strongholds between  coastal castles for an incessant line of defense. The new strongholds were called Armies of Patrol (you bing遊兵) and each was set up with a general who controlled it.
If we combine Table1 and Figure 1, it is astonishing to discover that it was not just several “points” but a “line”, even an “area”! (see Figure 2). 

Figure 2: 
Areas of Zheng Ministry control on the Fujian coast after 1635. 
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As this figure shows, although the coastal fortresses were still an important part of the coastal defense system, the patrol fleets had become the first line of coastal defense. Once Zhilong defeated Liu Xiang, the generals who commanded these patrols were all members of the Zheng Ministry. The other troops that moved between Jinmen and Penghu who belonged to the Ming were also members of the Zheng Ministry. Therefore, by1635, Zhilong had established complete control over the profitable route to Japan from Southeast Asia. Because some ships from Formosa would anchor on Penghu before sailing to Fujian or Japan, Penghu was a main artery on this expansive trade route. It's not at all unexpected that this was also in the hands of the Zheng Ministry. 
The effect of the Zheng Ministry can be revealed by a brief case study. While the Zheng Ministry made the Fujian seawaters peaceful and stable, the situation of the two surrounding coastal provinces, Zhejiang and Guangdong, was much worse. In 1640, there were some itinerant pirates harassing Zhejiang, but who didn’t venture into Fujian’s waters. However, Chen Peng was still able to defeat them in Zhejiang, with one of the pirate captains surrendering 1,658 weapons, including Hongyi Cannon, handle guns, and so on.
 Chen Peng was the general who ultimately led all of the Armies of Patrol in Fujian and thus, according to his duty, he was compelled to attack the pirates, even though they weren’t in Fujian.

To compare, the governor of Guangdong, whose name was Zhang Jingxin (張鏡心), had to recruit some incorrigible pirates in Huizhou ain order to rescue some 400 hostages.
 If we compare the situation of Fujian to Guangdong, we find that Fujian’s military resources and armaments were abundant in comparison. When Mao Qizong (冒起宗), who was He Qiaoyuan’s relative, served in Guangdong, he asserted that there were not enough soldiers and ships at the Hailang (海朗) coastal fortresses in the western part of the province. The Hailang fortress was located between Yangjiang (陽江) and Yangchun (陽春); there were many traders in the vicinity, but only 154 soldiers and 12 ships to defend this area.
 The duty area of another fortress, Shuangyu (雙魚), was wider than Hailang and there were still only 444 soldiers and 12 ships.
 There were only 220 soldiers and 17 ships at Liantou, where Mao resorted to hiring fishermen as soldiers.
 The final fortress was Xianmen (限門), where hundreds of ships came in to load rice bound for Fujian, there were only 400 soldiers and 17 ships. Mao worried if the traders had resisted the Ming, they would have been able to easily overwhelm the defending forces.
 While Mao was struggling with a severe shortage of soldiers and ships, ministers in Beijing estimated that Zhilong had over 10,000 soldiers and 300 ships.
 It’s likely that these official statistics underestimated Zhilong’s true forces, which must have been quite large in order to control all of Fujian.
Even Zheng Cai (鄭彩), who was a member of the Zheng Ministry, could command 1,400 soldiers to attack bandits in Chaozhou, and Zhilong could ask Lin Hong and Zheng Hongkui (鄭鴻逵) to take 3,000 soldiers to quell hostilities in northern China
.
 The generals of the Zheng Ministry not only controlled the military resources of their duty area, but also handled the economy of their designated place. Both Lin Hong and Zheng Cai were garrison generals of Chaozhou and, according to a Jinmen gentry called Cai Xianchen (蔡獻臣), had consistently tried to expand commerce in Chaozhou. We can deduce that this decision came from Zhilong in order to augment the profits of his headquarters in Fujian.
 When the Manchus invaded in 1640, a Ming officer suggested that the Court assign Chen Peng, who was a member of the Zheng Ministry, to take 2,000 soldiers to attack the Manchus.
 It is easy to understand why the government relied on Zhilong’s impeccable forces, but because of his successful trade, Zhilong still had copious resources in Fujian to maintain his sovereignty after dispatching troops on various tasks.
Table 2: Position in the Fujian coastal defense system and appointments of Zheng Ministry members, 1628-1644. 

	
	All generals
	Of which were Zheng Ministry
	Percentage 
	Total years of experience
	 Years of 
Membership in the Zheng Ministry


	Percentage of time in the Zheng Ministry
	Percentage  Zheng Ministry after 1636     

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
Generals 
	Years of experience


	Fujian Commander
	4
	1
	25%
	10
	4
	40%
	50%
	80%

	Vice Commender
	6
	2
	29%
	11
	8
	72%
	100%
	100%

	General of Fenghuozhai Coastal fortress
	2
	1
	50%
	2
	1
	50%
	100%
	100%

	General of Xiaochen Coastal fortress
	5
	2
	40%
	4
	2
	50%
	67%
	67%

	General of Nanri Coastal fortress
	5
	1
	20%
	15
	7
	46%
	50%
	88%

	General of Wuyu Coastal fortress
	3
	2
	66%
	2
	1
	50%
	100%
	100%

	General of Tongshan Coastal fortress
	5
	0
	0%
	7
	0
	0%
	0%
	0%

	General of Army of Patrol
	6
	3
	50%
	9
	6
	66%
	100%
	100%

	General of Penghu
	2
	1
	50%
	6
	5
	83%
	100%
	100%

	Total
	37
	13
	35%
	64
	34
	53%
	67%
	85%


One caveat to note is that some of the Army of Patrol generals and  no commanders of Tongshan coastal fortress were clearly members of the Zheng Ministry. However, the marshals who ordered these generals were known members of the Zheng Ministry and the generals of the four main coastal castles were also controlled by the Zheng Ministry. The Tongshan fortress was in Zhangzhou, under the jurisdiction of the Vice Commander, who was always a member of the Zheng Ministry. The highest, middle, and lower level coastal defenses were commanded by Zheng Ministry members who had a stronger sense of cohesion and command structure under Zhilong than in Yu Zigao’s time. Table 2 shows that after 1636, over 67% of the generals in Fujian belonged to the Zheng Ministry, who had spent 85% of their careers within the organization. 
That Zhilong’s subordinates were promoted to become formal generals of the Ming military system was the normal order of things. There were many famous generals who were originally junior followers of an older commander. Because the number of military registers had been abating since the mid-Ming, the government enlisted people to increase its sources of manpower. Thus, Zhilong didn’t significantly alter the Ming military enlistment system, but he did gain comprehensive control of the most important posts in Fujian. The Fujian Commander could control military affairs, the five coastal castles were still the main strongholds in Fujian, the Army of Patrol generals could control the dispersed coastline of Fujian, and the Penghu general could control the straits between Fujian and Penghu. By enlisting the holders of these posts,  Zheng Zhilong was able to exhaustively command all levels of the military and further regulate all the ports, trade routes, and ocean traffic in and around Fujian, keeping his business booming throughout. This further bolstered Fujian’s desirability as a prime area for trade vis-à-vis Guangdong and Zhejiang, which were quite chaotic by comparison. 
5. Conclusion
Because the sea prohibition was carried out from the early Ming, those who wanted to trade with the outside world were considered pirates. Some scholars created a new term to describe this group of people, the “pirate-traders.”
 In the course of Ming history, there were dozens of pirate organizations that were as powerful as Zhilong’s, yet none were as successful. Scholars have provided several explanations for Zhilong’s rise: local clan ties, a powerful army, personal talent, being recruited by the government, access to private ports, and huge trading profits. These six reasons were not unique to Zhilong. In the Tianqi Emperor period, there was a maritime organization composed of officers, army soldiers, pirates, ministers, clan members, and businessmen, but it didn’t survive. Although the leader of this group, Yu Zigao, was the highest-ranking military commander in Fujian, he couldn’t fully command any level of the army within the complex military system, and was ultimately defeated by the pirate alley organizations. Zhilong discovered that if he wanted to control all of the ports and trade routes in Fujian, he must control not only the highest-level command post but also the bottom level of the military system and the defenses protecting vital ports.
In the context of the financial difficulties of the Ming Court, Zhilong convinced fishermen and soldiers to join his private army and tempted other pirates to help him before he could decree them troops of the Ming. The reason that pirates were willing to join Zhilong’s ranks was probably due to the fact that Zigao and his pirate partner, Yang Liu, controlled the seas and repudiated aspiring pirate leaders, such as Cai Wu, Zhong Bin, and Zheng Zhilong. Zhilong’s connections to his hometown of Anhai, where some influential gentry such as Su Yan lived were also crucial.

Zhilong commanded not only an official army, but also the troops that he hired or recruited himself, to stabilize his non-state maritime power. He thus combined state and non-state power to build his influence, although he was not unique in this regard. As mentioned above, Mao Wenlong was also operated both within and outside of the Ming system. Another example is Zuo Liangyu (左良玉), who hired a private army in order to resist peasant bandits during the late Ming. These three contemporaneous generals utilized imperial regulations to serve both the Court and themselves. Nevertheless, they probably never imagined that the Ming Court that they relied on would fall so abruptly. It is intriguing then that all three generals strongly affected the history of the Ming-Qing transition. Both Mao and Zuo died before the Ming collapse, and their subordinates subsequently became the vanguard of the Manchu invasion. Zhilong had the best, potentially the only, opportunity and requisite strength to build a maritime state to defy the continental Qing Empire. Nonetheless, Zhilong gave up his powerful Zheng Ministry in Fujian, entering into the impenetrable Manchu style of politics in Beijing, an ultimately fatal mistake.
 
At the beginning of the Ming, the government tried to use coastal fortresses to defend against pirates. However, there were only five fortresses to defend more than 4,000 kilometers of coastline. With the military system modified, the government hired citizens to be soldiers and constructed more strongholds to guard the sea front. Thus, Zhilong utilized the traditional, ingrained, orthodox defense system to abet his trading network and kept a position, Fuyi, so that the VOC had to negotiate with him. He never created a new system, because it would have ruffled too many feathers. Thus, he needed the most effective system that still operated within the infallible Ming system! Finally, in 1640, Zhilong and the Zheng Ministry culminated their efforts in the control of the trading lanes between Fujian and Penghu. Zhilong was able establish maritime hegemony because the “Zheng Ministry” controlled the Fujian seawaters during the Ming Dynasty’s final regal period. 
When Zhilong surrendered to the Manchu regime, he had already escalated his power in the Beijing Court. After Zhilong surrendered to the Manchus, the generals of the Zheng Ministry split up, with some of them joining the Southern Ming regime, for example Zheng Cai and Yang Geng (楊耿), and some of them becoming local warlords, for example Chen Bao (陳豹). Still others, such as Lin Cha (林察) and Lin Xishan (林習山), decided to help Zhilong’s son, Coxinga. In 1654, Coxinga ordered Lin Cha to conquer Guangdong and meet up with an expeditionary force of Ming loyalists in the western part of the province. This serious threat made the Qing Court feel pressed, just as Coxinga decided to refuse Qing overtures to surrender and occupy Zhangzhou city.
 The next year, the Qing general Yang Guoyong (楊國永), who was born in Zhangzhou, accused Zhilong of illegal practices, adducing testimony gathered by another Zhangzhou native named Guo Xi, who was also an important general of the Zheng Ministry but had surrendered to the Manchus with Zhilong.
 Therefore, because of Guo Xi and Lin Cha, two old subordinates in the Zheng Ministry, Zhilong was brought to trial and banished to the frontier, and was finally executed a few years later. Thus, Zhilong rose because of the “Zheng Ministry” and eventually fell because of the “Zheng Ministry”. It is really an ironic story.
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�Unclear. Was Zigao dismissed from office or not?


�Needs transition here


�Ruitu? Someone at the Court?


�Unclear when this was exactly. A few days after returning to Anhai?


�Unclear, didn’t Li Kuiqi control Amoy at this time?


�Needs transition/rearrangement given what was just said


�Fujian?


=�Zheng membership?
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